Homes fit for Heroes — Willesden Council’s Brentfield Housing Scheme.

One of the many interesting items in the Local History Collection at Brent Archives (in boxfile
LHC1/HOU/3) is a booklet produced by Willesden Urban District Council in 1921. It tells the
story of the first Council housing estate built in Willesden (and Brent). This centenary year of
the Housing & Town Planning Act, 1919, seemed a good time to make a facsimile copy of the
booklet more widely available, online.

The 1919 Act followed on from a 1917 report by the Tudor Walters Committee, which identified
poor housing conditions as the reason why so many men recruited to fight during the First
World War were unfit. It encouraged local Councils to build half a million decent new houses,
which would be subsidised by the Government, over the next three years. The plan was soon
known by the slogan “Homes fit for Heroes”.
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The site for the Brentfield Estate, and its surrounding area,
[Reproduced from the 1920 edition of the Ordnance Survey 6” to one mile map of Middlesex, sheet XVI]

Willesden U.D.C. had already been considering building some homes before the war had
broken out. By November 1918, it had prepared proposals for an estate, on land previously
used as part of its sewage treatment works at Stonebridge Farm. The idea for this Brentfield
Estate (called after the ancient field name for this area) had already been approved by the
Government, under the Housing of the Working Classes Act, 1890, even before the 1919 Act

was passed.

Work should have started on the estate’s first roads and houses before the end of 1919, but a
series of delays, mainly caused by changes to the Council’s plans because of interference by
various Government bodies (and the decision to go ahead with a North Circular Road, which
would cut across the site), meant that work did not begin until 1920.



In the end, the Government agreed that the Council could build the estate’s roads and sewers
by direct labour (at a price of £45,835-10s-6d), although the houses would be built by private
contractors. The first phase were built by Messrs. Godson & Sons of Kilburn, and by July 1920
the Council’s Housing & Town Planning Committee were able to visit the site to see work in
progress.

By the end of 1920, application forms were being issued to people who wished to be considered
as tenants for one of these Council houses, and the rents that would be charged for them had
been agreed. These were 15/- a week (exclusive of rates) for a three-bedroom house with a
parlour, and 12/6 for one without a parlour.

In February 1921, names were agreed for the roads on the estate, with roads “1” and “2” called
Garden Way and Mead Plat. By mid-May, the first 32 houses were ready, apart from connecting
them to the gas supply, and it was agreed that the tenants chosen for them could move in as
soon as this had been done.

The Council had received more than 1,000 completed application forms for housing, and
priority was given to ex-servicemen with families, who were living in the most overcrowded
conditions. Council officers visited the homes of all short-listed tenants, to check those
conditions, and to ensure applicants could show that they were ‘Willesden residents of some
years standing’.

On Saturday 11 June 1921 there was a ceremony, on the grassy square at Mead Plat, for the
formal hand-over to the Council of the first 65 homes (out of a total of 591 planned for the
estate). The event was reported in the “Willesden Chronicle” newspaper, and commemorated
with the booklet, written by the Council’s Engineer and Surveyor, Mr F. Wilkinson, which is
reproduced in full on the following pages.

Philip Grant, September 2019.
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Part of the report from the “Willesden Chronicle”, 17 June 1921, with a drawing of houses at the square.
[Source: Brent Archives — local newspaper microfilms]
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